

# Assessing the Influence of Nano Urea on the Growth, and Yield of Irrigated Wheat(*Triticum aestivum* L.)crop.

Comment [R1]: Coma maybe removed

## Abstract

Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) is one of the world's most essential cereal crops, serving as a staple food for a significant portion of the global population. In the pursuit of achieving higher yields in contemporary agriculture, the use of chemical fertilizers poses an increased environmental risk. However, the application of Nano urea offers a potential solution to mitigate this risk to a certain extent. To address this objective, a field experiment was conducted during the Rabi seasons of 2022-2023 at the A trial was executed in the rural area of Kanpur district of Mandhana, located 10 km from Kanpur in Uttar Pradesh, during the Rabi season of 2022-23. The experiment took place on silty loam soil with a pH of 7.65, electrical conductivity (EC) of 0.27 dSm-1, organic carbon content of 0.41%, and available nutrients including nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) at levels of 217.0, 19.5, and 149.50 kg ha-1, respectively. Uttar Pradesh. The study focused on the "Assessing the Influence of Nano Urea on the Growth, and Yield, in Irrigated Wheat". The experimental design involved two main factors: Factor-1 Nitrogen (at 50%, 75%, and 100% levels) and Factor-2 Foliar Spray (at one time Nano urea and two time Nano urea, with 4 ml/l). A control group was included, and the experiment was laid out in a Randomized Block Design (RBD) with 13 treatments in three replications. The results indicated that the combination of 100% nitrogen along with a foliar spray of 4 ml/L Nano urea had a significant positive impact on growth, yield, and various yield parameters. Treatment 6 demonstrated the highest values for plant height (95.66 cm), Dry matter accumulation (1014.09 g m<sup>-2</sup>), number of tillers m<sup>-2</sup> (417.44), Leaf area index at 90 DAS (4.85), effective ear head per (m<sup>-2</sup>) (282.66), grains per ear head (65.75), test weight (48.52 g), grain yield (46.15 quintals/ha), and straw yield (57.92 quintals/ha).

Comment [A2]: Purposes/ objectives, methodology, findings, research limitations should be indicated specifically

Comment [A3]: This maybe migrated to methodology part

Comment [A4]: This line has been repeated

**Keywords:** Growth, yield attributes and yield, wheat, Nano urea, foliar spray, RBD.

Comment [A5]: Conclusion (1/2 line) may be added

## 1. Introduction

Wheat marks its second cultivation cycle following maize; in the 2020-21 season, India's wheat production reached 107.6 million tonnes, securing the second position globally, trailing only behind China's production of 134.3 million tonnes. Wheat is farmed across approximately 217 million hectares, yielding a remarkable output of 731 million tonnes. The largest wheat-growing regions include India (14%), Russia (12.43%), China (11.14%), and the USA (6.90%), collectively contributing to around 45% of the total global wheat cultivation area. Despite this, China emerges as the primary global wheat producer, achieving a record production of 136 million tonnes, followed by India (98.51 million tonnes), Russia (85 million tonnes), and the USA (47.35 million tonnes). Notably, traditional wheat-producing countries, such as China, India, Russia, the USA, Canada, Ukraine, and Pakistan, contribute approximately 58% of the total global wheat production, amounting to 449 million tonnes (USDA 2018). Wheat, boasting numerous advantages, underscores the importance of doubling its global crop yield by a significant margin by the year 2050 (Hunter et al. 2018). In India, where expanding crop acreage faces limitations and production threats and challenges are prevalent (Sharma et al. 2013), a production target of 140 million tonnes has been set for the year 2050 (ICAR-IIWBR. Vision 2015)

Comment [R6]: Reference please

A staple in the northern regions of India, major wheat-producing states include Uttar Pradesh, Punjab, Madhya Pradesh, Haryana, and Rajasthan. Uttar Pradesh, with 9.85 million hectares dedicated to wheat cultivation, contributed 35.50 million tonnes to the national output in 2020-21 (UPDES, 2022). Serving as a primary food and energy source in India, wheat holds the position of the world's second-largest wheat producer, with production soaring from 6.60 to 107.6 million tonnes since independence (WDI, 2022). Despite Uttar Pradesh having the largest land share at 35.1%, its productivity remains the lowest at 2.7 tonnes/ha, making a significant contribution of 35.03% to the national production. Wheat is cultivated across western (3.29 million ha), eastern (5.24 million ha), and central (0.68 million ha) regions of Uttar Pradesh, with yield reductions observed in protest and farmer fields, recording 1.35 tons/ha less at 2.7 tons/acre on 9.2 million acres. Critical production challenges in western Uttar Pradesh, post rice-wheat cultivation, include declining soil organic carbon, nutrient depletion, inconsistent fertilization, crop waste burning causing nutrient loss and organic carbon reduction, and a diminishing water table impacting water availability alongside late sowing of wheat. Traditional cultural practices further exacerbate harm to the rice-wheat cropping system (Rizwana and Iyaqet, 2011). In recent times, the direct impact of climate change and global warming on crop yield and quality has become evident due to increased frequency and severity of various stresses. Wheat, rice, and maize, essential global staple crops providing a significant portion of daily calories and protein, are particularly susceptible (Kizilgeci et al., 2021). Environmental stressors, including salinity, can result in substantial production losses, accounting for approximately 50% (Acquaah, 2007). Moreover, the continuous growth in the global population poses a challenge to food security, as the world's food supply must increase by up to 70% by 2050 (FAO, 2009).

**Comment [A7]:** Introductory sentences might be considered to be less

Because of the world's expanding population and rising food demand, traditional chemical fertilizers are being applied more frequently with high amount. One of the primary concerns nowadays is the use of these high doses chemical fertilizers and their negative impacts, especially on the ecosystem of the soil and its flora and fauna (Kumar et al. 2023). Nano urea is presented as a solution to address challenges in traditional agriculture, driven by factors such as population growth, soil nutrient depletion, limited land resources, and climate change. Traditional fertilizers exhibit low nutrient use efficiency, with a significant percentage of nitrogen lost in the environment, leading to economic losses and environmental pollution. Nano urea, a modified form of traditional fertilizers based on nano-technology, aims to overcome these issues. Nano-fertilizers represent altered versions of conventional fertilizers, leveraging nanotechnology. The unique properties of matter at the nano-scale, showcasing novel characteristics distinct from those observed at macroscopic levels. These alterations stem from the reduced molecular size and the modified interactions between molecules. The properties associated with nanotechnology, particularly relevant to agricultural advancements, include high reactivity, enhanced bioavailability and bioactivity, as well as adherence effects and surface effects of nanoparticles, as discussed by Gutierrez et al. in 2011. These specialized fertilizers aim to address gaps in both traditional and innovative fertilizer markets. Nano-fertilizers, with their nano-sized particles, offer enhanced nutrient use efficiency and profitability. 40–70% Nitrogen loss through processes like nitrate leaching, denitrification, and ammonia volatilization is reduced with the use of Nano urea. (TrenkelME 2010 and Solanki et al. 2015). This is crucial in mitigating economic losses, environmental pollution, and the release of greenhouse gases contributing to global warming. Nano urea adheres to the 4R principles, promoting more photosynthesis, biomass production, and fulfilling crop nutrient requirements.

**Comment [A8]:** Please address in short

Nano urea brings various advantages, including reduced input requirements, slow release mechanism, lower transportation and application costs, and minimal salt accumulation in the soil compared to conventional fertilizers. The production of customized manufactured products involves the arrangement of atoms, with the properties of these products depending on the specific atomic arrangement. In the context of agriculture, nano fertilizers play a role in enhancing various growth parameters such as plant height, leaf area, and the number of leaves per plant. Additionally, nano fertilizers contribute to increased dry matter production, chlorophyll production, and the rate of photosynthesis. These improvements lead to higher overall production and more efficient translocation of photosynthesis to different parts of the plant when compared to traditional fertilizers, as discussed by Ali and Al-Juthery in 2017 and Singh et al. in 2017. The regulation of nutrient release by nano urea ensures the correct quantity and suitable proportion of nutrients required by crops, enhancing productivity while maintaining environmental safety. Studies indicate that Nano fertilizers, particularly nanoclay-based formulations, have prolonged nutrient release capabilities compared to conventional fertilizers.

Field trials across India have demonstrated an 8% increase in yield with the application of nano urea, contributing to higher farmers' revenue. foliar applications, a technique involving the direct spraying of liquid fertilizers on plant leaves, for optimal nutrient absorption and maximum yield while minimizing losses (Rahman et al., 2014). It stresses the importance of proper nitrogen (N) management in wheat for achieving maximum yield, efficient water utilization, and minimal environmental contamination (Corbeels et al., 1999; Al-Taey et al., 201, 2018). The role of phosphorus (P) in enhancing seed maturity, seed development, and promoting tillering and reduced lodging in wheat is discussed by (Ziadi et al., 2008; Liakas et al., 2001 and Al-Juthery in 2018). Adequate phosphorus application is shown to result in heavier grains and a potential 20% increase in wheat grain yield (Crista et al., 2012; Abdel-Aziz et al., 2016). Additionally, increased P application is linked to enhanced N and P uptake in plants (Abdel-Aziz et al., 2018). Potassium (K) is highlighted for its essential role in various plant biochemical functions, including enzyme activation, protein formation, carbohydrate and fat concentration, as well as providing tolerance to drought and resistance to environmental stressors (Gosavi et al., 2017). The negative K balance in contemporary, high-yield agriculture is noted, leading to soil depletion of this essential element (Laghari et al., 2010). The content emphasizes that increasing K content in wheat results in improved growth indices, higher dry matter, 1000-grain weight, tillers, plant height, protein content, and overall grain yield (Bahmanyar and Ranjbar, 2008). Potassium application is also shown to significantly enhance N and P uptake in both straw and wheat grain (Saifullah et al., 2002; Laghari et al., 2010), and the positive interaction between N and K has a significant impact on grain yield and quality (Wu et al., 2006). Nano urea also improves crop quality, nutritional content, and protein levels, reducing the need for chemical use. The liquid-based foliar application of Nano urea offers logistical and warehousing advantages, making it economically sound for farmers. Overall, nano urea emerges as a promising input in agriculture, aligning with the principles of sustainability and efficiency in the face of contemporary agricultural challenges.

**Comment [A9]:** Based on objectives, Introduction may be written in short & specific

The utilization of nanotechnology in agriculture has emerged as a promising avenue for enhancing crop productivity and mitigating the environmental impact of traditional farming practices. In this context, the assessment of Nano Urea's influence on the growth, yield, and nitrogen use efficiency in irrigated wheat represents a crucial exploration at the intersection of technology and sustainable agriculture. The article's primary focus is to investigate the impact of foliar feeding with Nano-fertilizers SMP and tri, di combinations of

N, P, and K, comparing them with a control group and traditional fertilizers, on various parameters of wheat growth and yield.

## 2. **Materials and methods**

**Comment [R10]:** Proper & relevant reference should be added

A research was conducted in Research farm of the Faculty of agriculture & Allied industries in Rama University Kanpur, during the Rabi season of 2022-23. The experiment took place on silty loam soil with a pH of 7.65, electrical conductivity (EC) of 0.26 dSm<sup>-1</sup>, organic carbon content of 0.42%, and available nutrients including nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and potassium (K) at levels of 221.0, 19.7, and 147.30 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Uttar Pradesh. The study focused on the “Assessing the Influence of Nano Urea on the Growth, Yield, and Nitrogen Use Efficiency in Irrigated Wheat”. Employing a Randomized Block Design (RBD), the experiment comprised ten treatments replicated thrice. With the wheat variety HD-2967. The crop was sown in first week of December. The treatments included various combinations of urea and Nano urea in foliar application: **T1**:100 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L, **T2**:100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L, **T3**:100 % RDN +One spray of urea @ 4%, **T4**:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, **T5**:75 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano-urea @ 4ml/ L, **T6**:75 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L, **T7**:75 % RDN +One spray of urea @ 4%, **T8**:75 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, **T9**:50 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L, **T10**:50 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L, **T11**:50 % RDN +One spray of urea @ 4%, **T12**:50 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, **T13**:Control (120:60:40 Kg/ha). The recommended doses of phosphorus (60 kg/ha) and potassium (40 kg/ha) were applied during sowing using SSP and MOP, respectively. Nitrogen, applied as urea, was split into doses according to treatments throughout the crop period. Nano urea and foliar spray of urea were applied foliarly at 25 and 55 days after sowing. Sowing involved healthy seeds spaced at 20 cm from row to row. Cultural operations adhered to recommended practices. Observations were recorded from five random plants per treatment, focusing on various aspects of the crop, including growth, yield, and yield parameters.

**Comment [R11]:** Abbreviation Please

### 3. **Results and Discussion**

#### 3.1 **Effect on Growth Parameters**

##### 3.1.1. **Plant height (cm)**

A noticeable rise in plant height was observed as the growth advanced, as indicated in (Table 1). The highest plant height (95.66 cm) was recorded in treatment **T2** (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) followed by **T4**:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and **T1**:100 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L, as compare to other treatment in terms of statistical significance.

The application of 100% nitrogen resulted in increased plant height, emphasizing the crucial role of nitrogen as an essential nutrient effective for enhancing crop yield. Numerous prior studies have consistently demonstrated that nitrogen application contributes to increased crop height (Guo et al. 2019) This observation aligns with findings reported by Rawat et al. and Iqtidar et al., Ojha et al. 2023). The varying nitrogen levels significantly influenced plant height. The additional increase in plant height was attributed to the foliar spray of nano urea, which, as indicated by previous research, enhances Nitrogen Use Efficiency (NUE) by up to 45%, directly contributing to heightened plant stature. Importantly, the application of nano urea helps prevent nitrogen losses through processes like nitrate leaching, de-nitrification, and ammonia volatilization, ensuring direct availability to plants without losses.

**Comment [A12]:** This section should be focused on plant height only & may rechecked

##### 3.1.2. **No. of tillers (m<sup>-2</sup>)**

The highest number of tillers  $\text{m}^{-2}$  (417.44) was observed in treatment **T2** (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment fallowed by **T4**:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and. **T1**:100 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/l Demonstrated statistically comparable results to treatment T2. Tiller abundance is positively associated with leaf nitrogen accumulation. The application of Nano urea, known for its higher absorption rate and utilization efficacy, further enhanced the growth of tillers in this context similar results also found by Ojha et al. 2023 and Al-Juthery, et al. 2018.

### 3.1.3 Leaf area index (LAI)

The maximum number of Leaf area index at 90 DAS (4.85) was observed in treatment **T2** (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment fallowed by **T4**:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and. **T1**:100 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/l Demonstrated statistically comparable results to treatment T2. Leaf area were increased by increasing in nitrogen content, biomass and photosynthetic rate is positively associated with leaf nitrogen accumulation. The application of Nano urea, known for its higher absorption rate and utilization efficacy, further enhanced the Leaf area index in this context similar results also found by Al-Juthery, et al. 2018.

### 3.1.4 Dry matter accumulation ( $\text{g m}^{-2}$ )

As the crop progressed in growth, there was a concurrent increase in the weight of plant dry matter, as depicted in (Table 1). A significant and maximum Dry matter accumulation ( $1014.09 \text{ g m}^{-2}$ ) was noted in treatment **T2** (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment fallowed by **T4**:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and. exhibited statistically comparable results to treatment **T2**.

The impact of escalating nitrogen levels up to 100% was found to be significant in influencing plant dry weight. Nitrogen played a pivotal role in increasing the photosynthetic rate and expanding leaf area, leading to a higher accumulation of total dry matter. This finding aligns with similar observations reported by Ojha et al. 2023 and Al-Juthery, et al. 2018, Rahman et al. 2014. Nitrogen, being a critical element for plant growth, directly influences factors such as leaf area, leaf emergence rate, photosynthetic capacity, and radiation interception. The further increase in plant dry weight is attributed to the application of Nano urea.

### 3.1.5 Crop growth rate ( $\text{g/day/plant}$ )

As the crop progressed in growth, there was a concurrent increase in the Dry matter accumulation of with increases CGR, as depicted in (Table 1). A significant and maximum CGR ( $11.33 \text{ g/day/plant}$ ) was noted in treatment **T2** (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment fallowed by **T4**:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and. exhibited statistically comparable results to treatment **T2**.

**Comment [A13]:** Relevant reference should be indicated

## 3.2. Yield Attributes and Yields

### 3.2.1 Number of effective ear head per ( $\text{m}^{-2}$ )

A noteworthy and highest count of effective ear head per ( $\text{m}^{-2}$ ) (282.66) was noted (Table 2) in treatment T2 (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment fallowed by T4:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and T1, T3 T13. exhibited statistically comparable results to treatment T2 similar observations reported by Al-Juthery, et al. 2018.

### 3.2.2 Number of grains per ear head

A substantial and increased count of grains per ear head (65.75) was noted in treatment ear head exhibited statistically equivalent results to treatment T2 (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment at par T4:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and T1, and significantly superior over other treatments. Wheat grain exhibited a positive quadratic relationship with the nitrogen application rate. Our findings align with those reported in Ojha et al. 2023.

### 3.2.3 Test weight (g)

The results indicate that the maximum test weight (45.22) was observed in treatment 6 (100% nitrogen + foliar spray of 4ml/L Nano urea). Nevertheless, treatment T2 (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment at par T4:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and T1 compare to the other treatments.

### 3.2.4 Spike length (cm)

The results indicate that the maximum Spike length (10.84 cm) was observed in treatment T2 (100% nitrogen + foliar spray of 4ml/L Nano urea). Nevertheless, treatment T2 (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment at par T4:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and T1 compare to the other treatments.

### 3.2.5 Grain yield (kg ha<sup>-1</sup>)

A substantial and increased grain yield (46.15 quintals/ha) was observed in treatment T2 (100% nitrogen + foliar spray of 4ml/L Nano urea). Nevertheless, treatment T2 (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment at par T4:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and T1 and significantly superior over rest treatments. Nitrogen was found to have a significant impact on grain yield. According to reports, the synergistic effect of nano-fertilizers enhances the efficacy of conventional fertilizers, leading to optimal nutrient absorption by plant cells, thereby promoting optimal growth and metabolic processes like photosynthesis. This, in turn, results in higher photosynthesis accumulation and translocation to the economic parts of the plant, contributing to a higher yield attributed to increased source (leaves) and sink (economic part) strength Ojha et al. 2023. The foliar application of nano-fertilizers has been reported to significantly increase crop yield. As mentioned earlier, Nano fertilizers may have influenced these processes through their nutrient transportation capabilities, facilitating the penetration and movement of a wide range of nutrients from root uptake to foliage penetration and movement within the plant. This finding aligns with similar observations reported by Ojha et al. 2023 and Al-Juthery, et al. 2018, Rahman et al. 2014.

### 3.2.6 Straw yield (kg ha<sup>-1</sup>)

The results indicated that a greater straw yield (57.92 quintals/ha) was observed in treatment T2 (100% nitrogen + foliar spray of 4ml/L Nano urea). Nevertheless, treatment T2 (100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L) Nevertheless, treatment at par T4:100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%, and T1. In contrast, the lowest straw yield was recorded in treatment T12 (50 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%).

Comment [A14]: Reference??

## 4. Conclusion



In summary, the optimal fertilizer treatment for growth, yield, nutrient uptake, and fertilizer productivity was determined to be the foliar application of Nano fertilizer at a rate of 100% nitrogen + foliar spray of 4ml/L Nano urea. In light of the aforementioned results, it can be concluded that treatment T2. Involving the application of 100% nitrogen along with a 100% nitrogen + foliar spray of 4ml/L Nano urea at 25 and 55 days after sowing, demonstrates positive effects on the growth parameters, yield, and yield attributes of wheat. It's important to note that these conclusions are based on a single season, and further trials may be necessary for additional confirmation. The study's results demonstrated a generally positive effect of combined Nano urea with traditional NPK nutrient supply on the growth and yield parameters of wheat in irrigated conditions.

UNDER PEER REVIEW

**Table. 1: Influence of Nano Urea on the Growth in Irrigated Wheat crop.**

Treatments		Plant height (cm) At harvesting stage	No. of tillers (m-2) At harvesting stage	Leaf area index (LAI)	Dry matter accumulation (g m <sup>-2</sup> ) At harvesting stage	Crop growth rate (g/day/plant) 90 DAS to At harvesting stage
T <sub>1</sub>	100 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	94.20	405.23	4.75	893.14	10.08
T <sub>2</sub>	100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	95.66	417.44	4.85	1014.09	11.33
T <sub>3</sub>	100 % RDN +One spray of urea @ 4%	89.78	377.11	4.13	854.92	9.95
T <sub>4</sub>	100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%	95.59	421.35	5.23	992.07	10.95
T <sub>5</sub>	75 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano-urea @ 4ml/ L	85.97	367.94	3.96	835.04	9.79
T <sub>6</sub>	75 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	93.73	402.78	4.61	884.32	10.21
T <sub>7</sub>	75 % RDN +One spray of urea @ 4%	84.15	346.44	3.76	654.94	7.83
T <sub>8</sub>	75 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%	91.83	374.34	4.29	856.84	9.58
T <sub>9</sub>	50 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	81.78	331.61	3.58	623.74	8.25
T <sub>10</sub>	50 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	83.60	341.27	3.73	648.73	7.77
T <sub>11</sub>	50 % RDN +One spray of urea @ 4%	77.45	305.45	3.15	571.66	7.46
T <sub>12</sub>	50 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%	83.06	332.48	3.66	642.35	8.05
T <sub>13</sub>	Control (120:60:40 Kg/ha)	90.46	372.33	4.12	849.77	9.63
SEm (±)		3.27	17.26	0.17	32.57	0.38
CD at 5%		9.54	50.38	0.49	95.07	1.10
Ftest		S	S	S	S	S

**Comment [R15]:** CD full form might be written



**Table. 2: Influence of Nano Urea on the Yield in Irrigated Wheat crop.**

Treatments		Number of effective ear head per (m <sup>-2</sup> )	Number of grains per ear head	Test weight (g)	Spike length (cm)	Grain yield (quintal ha <sup>-1</sup> )	Straw yield (quintal ha <sup>-1</sup> )
T <sub>1</sub>	100 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	279.46	61.07	44.27	10.17	44.27	56.67
T <sub>2</sub>	100 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	282.66	65.75	45.22	10.84	46.15	57.92
T <sub>3</sub>	100 % RDN +One spray of urea @ 4%	273.38	57.74	42.91	9.41	42.44	52.36
T <sub>4</sub>	100 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%	280.50	63.40	45.15	10.41	44.96	57.43
T <sub>5</sub>	75 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano-urea @ 4ml/ L	268.06	54.39	41.79	8.94	39.31	50.38
T <sub>6</sub>	75 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	276.50	60.74	43.71	9.78	42.14	56.84
T <sub>7</sub>	75 % RDN +One spray of urea @ 4%	256.23	50.39	41.41	7.34	34.72	46.12
T <sub>8</sub>	75 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%	272.05	56.40	42.84	9.18	40.27	51.28
T <sub>9</sub>	50 % RDN + One foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	248.78	48.39	40.39	6.51	32.58	42.49
T <sub>10</sub>	50 % RDN+ Two foliar spray of Nano urea @ 4ml/ L	254.29	50.06	41.14	7.18	34.47	45.38
T <sub>11</sub>	50 % RDN +One spray of urea @ 4%	244.62	42.38	34.66	6.01	29.41	38.13
T <sub>12</sub>	50 % RDN + Two spray of urea @ 4%	253.41	48.73	40.76	7.01	33.95	44.98
T <sub>13</sub>	Control (120:60:40 Kg/ha)	269.39	55.07	42.26	9.01	41.02	51.66
SEm (±)		7.28	1.78	1.15	0.24	1.07	1.38
CD at 5%		21.25	5.21	3.36	0.70	3.13	4.03
Ftest		S	S	S	S	S	S

## 5. References

Comment [R16]: DOI might be introduced

1. Abdel-Aziz H.M.M., Hassaneen M.N.A. & Omer A.M. 2016. Nano chitosan-NPK fertilizer enhances the growth and productivity of wheat plants grown in sandy soil. *Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research*, 14, 1-9.
2. Acquaah, G. (2007). *Principles of Plant Genetics and Breeding*. 2nd Edn. Oxford: Blackwell, 740.
3. Al-Juthery H. W. A., H. Abdul Kareem., Radhi F. Musa; R.F.Musa and A.H. Sahan. 2018. Maximize Growth and Yield of Wheat by Foliar application of Complete Nano-fertilizer and Some of Bio stimulators. *Res. Crops* 19:387-393.
4. Al-juthery h. W.a., ali n. S., al-tae d & alie.a. h . M. 2018. The impact of foliar application of nanaofertilizer, seaweed and hypertonic on yield of potato; *Plant Archive*.18(2),2207-2212.
5. Al-Juthery, H. W., Habeeb, K. H., Altaee, F. J. K., AL-Taey, D. K., & Al-Tawaha, A. R. M. (2018). Effect of foliar application of different sources of nano-fertilizers on growth and yield of wheat. *Bioscience research*, (4), 3976-3985.
6. AL-Taey D. K. A., Al-Janabi A. S. H. & Rachid A. M. 2017. Effect of water salinity, Organic and minerals fertilization on growth and some nutrients elements in cabbage *Brassica oleraceavarapitate*. *Babylon Journal of Pure and Applied Science*, 25(6), 232- 248.
7. Al-Taey D. K.A., Mijwel A. K & Al-Azawy S.S. 2018. Study efficiency of poultry litter and kinetin in reduced effects of saline water in *Viciafaba*. *Research J. Pharm. and Tech*. 2018; 11(1), 294-300.
8. Bahmanyar M.A. & Ranjbar G.A. 2008. The role of potassium in improving growth indices and increasing amount of grain nutrient elements of wheat cultivar. *J. Appld. Sci*. 8, 1280-1285.
9. Corbeels M., Hofman G., & Van Cleemput O. 1999. Fate of fertilizer N applied to winter wheat growing on a Vertisol in a Mediterranean environment. *Nutrient Cycling in Agro-ecosyst*. 53, 249-258.
10. Crista F., Isidora R., Florin S., Laura C & Adina B 2012. Influence of NPK fertilizers upon winter wheat grain quality. *Research Journal of Agricultural Science*, 44 (3), 30-35.
11. FAO (2009). *High Level Expert Forum-How to Feed the World in 2050*. Economic and Social Development. Rome: Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations.
12. Gosavi A. B., Deolankar K.P., Chaure J.S & Gadekar D.A. 2017. Response of wheat for NPK foliar sprays under water stress condition. *International Journal of Chemical Studies*. 5(4), 766-768.
13. Guo ZP, Dong K, Zhu JH, Dong Y. 2019. Effects of nitrogen fertilizer and intercropping on faba bean rust occurrence and field microclimate. *J. Nuclear Agric. Sci*. 33:2294–2302.
14. Gutierrez F. J., Mussons M.L., Gaton P. & Rojo R. 2011. Nanotechnology and Food Industry. Scientific, Health and Social Aspects of the Food Industry, *In Tech, Croatia* Book Chapter.
15. Hunter MC, Smith RG, Schipanski ME, Atwood LW, Mortensen DA. 2018 Agriculture in 2050 : Recalibrating targets for sustainable intensification. *Biosci*. 67(4):386—391
16. ICAR-IIWBR. Vision 2050. Karnal: ICAR-Indian Institute of Wheat and Barley Research. 2015; 1-48
17. Iqtidar H, Ayyaz KM and Ahmad KE. 2006. Bread wheat varieties as influenced by different nitrogen levels. *Journal of Zhejiang University Science B*, 7(1): 70-78.

18. Kizilgeci, F., Yildirim, M., Islam, M. S., Ratnasekera, D., Iqbal, M. A., and Sabagh, A. E. (2021). Normalized difference vegetation index and chlorophyll content for precision nitrogen management in durum wheat cultivars under semi-arid conditions. *Sustainability* 13:3725. doi: 10.3390/su13073725.
19. Kumar, A., Maurya, N. K., Pal, R. K., Verma, P. K., & Kumar, S. (2023). Effect of different date of sowing and granule sea weed extract (GSWE) on growth, yield attributes and yield of Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *The Pharma Innovation Journal* 2023; 12(6): 6270-6273.
20. Laghari G.M., Oad F.C., Tunio S. D., Gandahi A.W., Siddiqui M.H., . Jagirani A.W. Oad. S.M. 2010. Growth yield and nutrient uptake of various wheat cultivars under different fertilizer regimes. *Sarhad J. Agric.* 26(4), 489-497.
21. Liakas V., Rauckis V. & Paltanavius. V. 2001. Influence of phosphorus and potash fertilizers on germination, tillering and overwintering of winter wheat. *MoksloDarbai.* 74, 3-12.
22. Ojha A.,Singh R.,andSinha J. 2023. Effect of Nano Urea and Foliar Spray of Urea on Growth and Yield of Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Int. J. Environ. Clim. Change*, 13, (11) pp. 474-481.
23. Rahman I.U., Aftab R.A., Zafar I. & Shafiul. M. 2014. Foliar application of plant mineral nutrients on wheat: A Review. *RRJAAS*.3 (2), 19-22.
24. Rawat AK, Sharma RS, Dubey AK and Naik KR. 2000. Refinement of agro-techniques for improving productivity of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) under Rice (*Oryza sativa*) wheat agro- system. *Indian J. Agron.* 45(4):636-640.
25. Rizwana, Lyaqet. (2011) Traditional knowledge used in paddy cultivation in Raipur district, Chhattisgarh. *Indian Journal of Traditional Knowledge*.;10(2):284-285.
26. Saifullah A., Ranjha M., Yaseen M. & Akhtar. M.F. 2002. Response of wheat to potassium fertilization under field conditions. *Pak. J. Agric. Sci.* 39 (4), 269-272.
27. Sharma I, Chatrath R, Sendhil R. 2013. Challenges, target and strategies for sustainable wheat production for food security and nutrition. *Indian Farming*. 63:3-6, 17.
28. Singh M.D., Gautam C., Patidar O.P., Meena H.M., Prakasha G. & Vishwajith. 2017. Nano-Fertilizers is a new way to increase nutrients use efficiency in crop production. *international journal of agriculture. review article. International Journal of Agriculture Sciences.* 9(7), 3831-3833.
29. Solanki P, Bhargava A, Chhipa H, Jain N, Panwar J. Nano-fertilizers and their smart delivery system. In: Rai M, Ribeiro C, Mattoso L, Duran N (eds) *Nanotechnologies in food and agriculture*. Springer, Switzerland. 2015; 81–101.
30. Trenkel ME. Slow-and controlled release and stabilized fertilizers: an option for enhancing nutrient use efficiency in agriculture. *International Fertilizer Industry Association, Paris, France.* 2010; 1–162.
31. USDA. United States Department of Agriculture [Internet]; 2018. Available: USDA. Available: <http://www.fas.usda.gov>
32. Wu J.C.J., Guo X.S., Yang X. U. & Wang Y.Q. 2006. Effects of grain yield and quality of strong gluten wheat and interaction in combined application of nitrogen and potassium. *J. Anhui. Agric. Univ.* 33 (3), 302-305.
33. Zhang WJ, Jiang DG, Huang ZL, Zhou XN, Ma SI. 2018. Effects of nitrogen fertilizer application on canopy structure traits, grain yield and quality of wheat after rice. *J. Triticeae Crops.* 38: 164–174.
34. Ziadi N., Bélanger G., Cambouris A.N, Tremblay N., Nolin M.C. & Claessens. A 2008. Relationship between phosphorus and nitrogen concentrations in spring wheat. *Agron. J.* 100 (1), 80-86.

**Comment [R17]:** For DOI Identification,  
<https://search.crossref.org/search/references>  
 this link can be used